THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 29 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000978
Case No. 2012-CP-32-0342

Kay F. Paschal, Respondent,

v.

Leon Lott, the Duly Elected Sheriff of
Richland County, South Carolina, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

Patrick J. Frawley
DAVIS FRAWLEY, LLC
140 East Main Street
Post Office Box 489
Lexington, South Carolina 29071
(803) 359-2512

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to consider or address whether the trial court correctly interpreted and applied Section 22-5-110?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to determine that the deputy sheriffs had developed sufficient evidence to lead an objectively reasonable law enforcement officer to believe that probable cause existed for both charged offenses?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to determine that the Respondent did not prove that the dismissal of the two arrest warrants at the preliminary hearing was based upon her innocence which she was required to prove?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of the directed verdict and JNOV motions with respect to the abuse of process claim where the evidence does not support either element of that tort?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves a malicious prosecution and abuse of process action brought by the Respondent Kay F. Paschal against the Petitioner Leon Lott in his official capacity as Sheriff of Richland County. In her complaint, Paschal asserted causes of action for false arrest, malicious prosecution, abuse of process, negligence and civil conspiracy. Prior to trial, the Defendants Heidi Scott,¹ Elizabeth Wallace and Jeffrey Wallace were dismissed. In addition, the civil conspiracy claim was dismissed.

The causes of action proceeded to trial on July 21, 2014, before Circuit Judge William P. Keesley and a jury. At the close of Paschal's case and again at the close of the evidence, Sheriff Lott moved for a directed verdict on multiple grounds. Judge Keesley granted a directed verdict on the false arrest claim, and Paschal withdrew the negligence claim. (R. 870). The malicious prosecution and abuse of process claims were submitted to the jury, which returned a verdict in favor of Kay Paschal on both claims. The jury also awarded actual damages of \$1.61 million. (R. 14).

¹ Lt. Heidi Scott is now known as Heidi Jackson. She has been referred to by both names in the record including the trial transcript. For ease of discussion, she will be referred to as Heidi Scott or Lt. Scott throughout this petition.

After the verdict was returned, Sheriff Lott filed a motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV). In the alternative, Sheriff Lott also moved for a new trial absolute and a new trial nisi remittitur. Judge Keesley denied each of those motions. (R. 1-11). He did, however, reduce the verdict to \$300,000 consistent with the monetary caps under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. (R. 11).

Kay Paschal filed a Rule 59(e) motion which was denied by Judge Keesley by order filed April 30, 2015. (R. 12-13).

Sheriff Lott filed an appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Paschal also cross-appealed. On February 7, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed by issuance of an unpublished memorandum opinion pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR, that sets forth only a string of citations rather than providing legal analysis of the issues to be decided by the Court.

Sheriff Lott thereafter petitioned for rehearing, and that petition was summarily denied. No substitute opinion was issued. Sheriff Lott thereupon filed a petition for writ of certiorari which has been granted by this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In early 2011, the Forest Acres Police Department contacted the Richland County Sheriff's Department ("RCSD"), requesting that the RCSD take over a case due to a possible conflict of interest. Since the subject location was 205 Spring Lake Road in Forest Acres and within the confines of Richland County, RCSD agreed to investigate the allegations. In particular, the investigation involved a recent report from family members of a suspected neglect and possible financial exploitation of an 88-year-old alleged crime victim, David Wallace, who had died on February 20, 2011.

At that time, Lt. Heidi Scott was employed by RCSD working with Victim's Assistance Services, and specifically as a Vulnerable Adult Investigator. Lt. Scott was directed by Captain Lancy Weeks to open an investigation. (R. 290).

Lt. Scott's Initial Meeting with the Wallace Children

On March 1, 2011 and nine days following David Wallace's death, Lt. Scott set up and conducted an in-person meeting with his two adult children, Elizabeth and Jeffrey Wallace, family friend Ellen Schorr, and Captain Weeks.² (R. 291). Elizabeth and Jeffrey Wallace were in their late 40s or early 50s and had resided out-

² Lt. Scott had not previously met or otherwise had any personal or professional dealings with Kay Paschal or the Wallace children. (R. 297-298).

of-state. (R. 307-308). They furnished Lt. Scott with factual background information as well as their concerns regarding their father. (R. 292).

Lt. Scott learned that on April 20, 2010, David Wallace suffered a major stroke following carotid artery surgery. Following the stroke, Wallace developed paralysis and difficulty speaking, conditions which confined him to a bed. Consequently, he was left in a mental and physical state in which he was fully dependent on others for his care and considered a vulnerable adult. After this April 20, 2010 debilitating stroke, David Wallace was hospitalized and incapacitated for an extended period of time. Following this hospital course, he was admitted to HealthSouth, an inpatient rehabilitation and treatment center in Columbia.

At that initial meeting, additional background was provided by Elizabeth and Jeffrey Wallace regarding Kay Paschal and her relationship with David Wallace. Paschal had been Wallace's attorney and a close friend. (R. 291-292).

During this meeting with Lt. Scott, Elizabeth and Jeffrey Wallace addressed several concerns with respect to their late father. For instance, following David Wallace's stroke, Kay Paschal, who resided with him, was limiting their contact with their father as well as contact from his friends. (R. 292).

In addition, they expressed concerns with David Wallace's Power of Attorney. The children understood that a Power of Attorney existed since 2002, and appointed Elizabeth Wallace as the attorney. The children had not been told

anything different. (R. 292). Yet, on April 23, 2010, three days after Wallace's stroke, Paschal had recorded a Power of Attorney for David Wallace which empowered her to act on his behalf. In particular, this new document identified Paschal as power of attorney and Elizabeth Wallace as "standby attorney," thus altering the 2002 Power of Attorney authorizing Elizabeth Wallace to act in such capacity. (R. 292).

The Wallace children also expressed concerns relating to Paschal's role in their father's physical care during the last months of his life, including such conditions as bed sores and malnutrition. (R. 292-294). At that time, Jeffrey Wallace filed the initial report with Forest Acres Police Department and notified DSS Adult Protective Services, thus triggering mandatory reporting protocols. (R. 293-294).

RCSD Investigation

The nature of the allegations was viewed as very serious and RCSD officials anticipated that the investigation would involve complex issues. (R. 303). Sgt. Kevin Isenhoward was asked to assist Lt. Scott with the investigation. (R. 303). At the early stage, investigatory duties were allocated between Sgt. Isenhoward (allegations as to medical neglect and pursuing a search warrant) and Lt. Scott (allegations as to financial exploitation). (R. 304).

Proceeding with her investigation as to allegations of financial exploitation, Lt. Scott arranged for the Power of Attorney instruments to undergo forensic examinations. On April 25, 2011, Forensic Document Examiner Marvin H. Dawson, Jr. analyzed two Powers of Attorney and two separate front pages of Powers of Attorney in which Elizabeth Williams was named as power of attorney. (R. 311-318). Separately, Gail Heath, a SLED forensic scientist examined the Powers of Attorney and two separate front pages. (R. 325-326). The results of these respective examinations were consistent.

The examination results yielded that the first page of the recorded Powers of Attorney had been added at a later date, and therefore they were not the original first pages. (Significantly, the first page of each document is the only page that lists who is to serve as power of attorney). Additionally, the initials on the first pages of the recorded Powers of Attorney were examined and determined not to be those of David Wallace, while the other pages did contain Wallace's initials on them. Finally, there were numerous other indicators demonstrating that the pages naming Elizabeth Williams as power attorney were the original pages that had been attached to the document at one time.³ (R. 1027-1037).

Lt. Scott also learned that on June 18, 2010, Kay Paschal met with Tim Peterson of Carolina Mobility Sales located at 2546 Leaphart Road in Lexington

County. On that date, Paschal presented the questionable Power of Attorney to authorize a trade of a 2002 Cadillac DeVille owned by David Wallace in order to obtain a trade-in allowance of \$5,000. This \$5,000 allowance was used towards the purchase of a 2010 Toyota Sienna van for a total price of \$63,317.51. Paschal presented a check of \$58,317.51 to Peterson from Wallace's Ameritrade account to pay for the remaining balance. Paschal's name was placed on the title of the vehicle, along with Wallace's name. (R. 208-213, 996-997).

Advice from Prosecutors

Since the circumstances involving the van purchase occurred in Lexington County, Lt. Scott conferred with her RCSD supervisors concerning the protocol to continue the pending Richland County-based investigation into Lexington County. On July 26, 2011, Lt. Scott met with Joanna McDuffie, Assistant Solicitor from the Fifth Judicial Circuit regarding the appropriate manner in which to proceed. (R. 328-329). During this meeting, McDuffie reviewed a voluminous amount of information relating to the RCSD investigation and Kay Paschal's conduct with respect to David Wallace, including but not limited to the Lexington County-based van purchase. As a result, McDuffie conveyed to Lt. Scott her professional opinion that probable cause existed for Paschal's arrest on several different criminal charges. (R. 808-809).

³ Further suspicions raised during the forensic evaluation process were the discrepancies in font and paper stock within the recorded documents. (R. 321-326).

Aside from McDuffie's prosecutorial opinion that criminal charges were indeed warranted -- given that the van purchase had taken place in Lexington County -- McDuffie suggested that Lt. Scott consult with the Lexington Solicitor's Office before pursuing warrants so as to seek further advice on how to proceed. (R. 808-810).⁴

On October 14, 2011, Lt. Scott furnished the Lexington-based information to Detective Steve Baumgardner with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department. (R. 330-332). Detective Baumgardner subsequently advised Lt. Scott that he was shortly beginning medical leave as he was going to have surgery. On November 4, 2011, Lt. Scott retrieved the file from Baumgardner. (R. 330-332).

At that point, Lt. Scott's supervisor, Major Stan Smith suggested that she contact Eleventh Circuit Deputy Solicitor Dayton Riddle to ascertain his preferences as to how she might proceed with the charges in Lexington County. On November 14, 2011, Lt. Scott held a teleconference with Deputy Solicitor Riddle. (Def. Ex. 8). During this conversation, Riddle assented to Lt. Scott pursuing a warrant in

⁴ McDuffie testified that it was not uncommon that "cross over" criminal cases exist in which a subject commits crimes in both Richland and Lexington Counties resulting in potential dual or contemporaneous prosecutions in both the Fifth and Eleventh Judicial Circuits. (R. 809-810). McDuffie further explained that, by way of example, since the City of Columbia is situated in both Richland and Lexington Counties, the Solicitor's Offices must oftentimes address these "cross over" instances. (R. 809-810). Accordingly, McDuffie advised Lt. Scott that such a dialogue with a Lexington County prosecutor might avert such a predicament. (R. 812-813).

Lexington County, but he suggested that a Lexington County magistrate would ultimately need to make such a determination. (R. 1039-1058).

Arrest of Kay Paschal for Forgery and Breach of Trust

Acting upon Riddle's suggestion, on November 15, 2011, Lt. Scott met with Lexington County Magistrate Judge Scott D. Whittle. (R. 343-344, 348-350). Lt. Scott identified herself to the magistrate as a RCSD investigator. (R. 348-349). Magistrate Whittle heard the facts of the investigation as set forth by Lt. Scott verbally. He then reduced these facts to a written affidavit which Lt. Scott signed.

After considering the testimony and evidence before him, Judge Whittle issued arrest warrants for forgery (No. J-830942) and breach of trust (No. J-830943) against Kay Paschal. (R. 1059-1060). Lt. Scott telephoned Paschal and advised that there were two arrest warrants at the Lexington County Sheriff's Department and provided information as to how she might appear at the detention center for service of said warrants. (R. 644-646). On November 16, 2011, Paschal appeared voluntarily at the Lexington County Detention Center, and these warrants were served upon her by a Lexington County deputy, and she was taken into custody. (R. 644-646). She was later released on a PR bond.

Preliminary Hearing

On January 20, 2012, a preliminary hearing was held in Lexington County at which time Paschal's attorney argued that the warrants should be dismissed for lack

of probable cause and on jurisdictional grounds. Magistrate Gary Morgan ultimately dismissed the charges without stating the grounds for dismissal. There is no evidence in the record that states the basis for Magistrate Morgan's decision.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV, the South Carolina appellate courts apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Elam v. South Carolina Department of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 782 (2004). With respect to factual issues, “a motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict.” *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). In other words, a court should grant a JNOV motion whenever there is no evidence to support the jury’s verdict. *Chakrabarti v. City of Orangeburg*, 403 S.C. 308, 743 S.E.2d 109, 112 (Ct. App. 2013). However, as to the trial court's rulings on questions of law, the appellate courts review those rulings *de novo*. *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[t]his Court reviews all questions of law *de novo*”).

“The grant or denial of new trial motions rests within the discretion of the circuit court, and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless its findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law.” *Brinkley v. South Carolina Department of Corrections*, 386 S.C. 182, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App. 2009). “[T]he court possesses broad, inherent

authority to grant a new trial for any prejudicial errors committed during the trial as a matter of fundamental fairness.” *Ex parte Kent*, 379 S.C. 633, 666 S.E.2d 921, 925 (Ct. App. 2008).

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to consider or address whether the trial court correctly interpreted and applied Section 22-5-110.

As his first issue on appeal, Sheriff Lott raised the following: "Did the trial court err in its interpretation and application of Section 22-5-110, which resulted in the denial of directed verdict and JNOV motions and also caused Sheriff Lott to receive an unfair trial?" The Court of Appeals essentially disregarded this critical issue of novel impression. There is no discussion of this issue in the memorandum opinion. At most, the Court of Appeals addressed whether Lt. Heidi Scott's "compliance" with Section 22-5-110 properly presented a jury question, which it did not.

Importantly, the Court of Appeals never addressed whether Judge Keesley properly interpreted Section 22-5-110 in the first place. Sheriff Lott contends that he did not, and that this issue of law permeated the trial and resulted in an incorrect, unjust, and unfair verdict against Sheriff Lott. The Court of Appeals never addressed whether Sheriff Lott received a fair trial and, more particularly, whether Judge Keesley erred in denying his motion for a new trial absolute on this basis.

As the record makes abundantly clear, Kay Paschal made Section 22-5-110 the center piece or focus of her case. She argued that that statute prohibited Lt. Heidi Scott from obtaining the two arrest warrants from Magistrate Scott Whittle in

Lexington County. Further, she argued that Magistrate Whittle was required to issue courtesy summonses rather than arrest warrants. Paschal is wrong on both counts.

Paschal relies on Section 22-5-110(B)(1) which states: "An arrest warrant may not be issued for the arrest of a person unless sought by a law enforcement officer acting in their official capacity." S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-110(B)(1). In addition, she relies on Section 22-5-110(B)(2) which states: "If an arrest warrant is sought by someone other than a law enforcement officer, the court must issue a courtesy summons." S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-110(B)(2).

To his credit, Judge Keesley candidly admitted that he struggled with the proper interpretation and application of Section 22-5-110 throughout the trial, and the record bears that out. At the directed verdict stage, Judge Keesley stated his belief that Section 22-5-110 had not been complied with, when taking the evidence in a light most favorable to Paschal. (R. 767). He indicated that he could not rule that the arrest warrants were properly issued "at this stage." (R. 768). Later, when the issue was renewed on the directed verdict motion made at the close of the evidence, Judge Keesley simply denied the motion and erroneously concluded that "they're jury issues." (R. 862, 869). Thereafter, he charged the jury with the two subsections mentioned above but gave no explanation of their meaning or application, leaving that to the whim of the jury. (R. 937).

In ruling on post-trial motions, Judge Keesley described his "angst" in the interpretation and application of Section 22-5-110:

As to whether the court applied the law properly, that has been the cause of some angst in evaluating the post-trial motions. Some of this relates to the proper interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-110 and its applicability to the evaluation of the actions of the Defendant's deputy.

(R. 7). Judge Keesley noted that the parties' differing interpretations of Section 22-5-110 were "strenuously argued during trial." (R. 7). He further explained that Sheriff Lott "argues that § 22-5-110 is not jurisdictional and applies to magistrates issuing warrants, not to the law enforcement officers seeking them." (R. 7). Nonetheless, Judge Keesley concluded: "Viewing the totality of the circumstances, the court finds that sufficient evidence was presented to enable the jury to determine that the conduct of the Defendant in pursuing and obtaining the arrest warrant that is the subject of this action was contrary to the procedure provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 22-5-110." (R. 7).

The error committed by the trial court in how it handled the legal issues surrounding Section 22-5-110 -- including allowing the jury to determine that Lt. Scott violated those procedures -- is reversible error that warrants, at a minimum, a new trial absolute, that is, if Sheriff Lott is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law for the reasons discussed below.

Yet, in its memorandum opinion, the Court of Appeals provided no analysis of Section 22-5-110 nor any citations to authorities addressing the statute. The Court of Appeals only cites to the statute itself. No explanation is given to its meaning and impact on this litigation. Section 22-5-110 has never been interpreted by this Court or the Court of Appeals. In fact, the law governing the issuance of a courtesy summons rather than an arrest warrant has never been addressed by an appellate court.

Quite clearly, the Court of Appeals failed to consider or address the correct meaning and impact of Section 22-5-110 and the existing law on the issuance of a courtesy summons. The South Carolina Bench Book for Summary Court Judges describes a "courtesy summons" as follows:

A private citizen may swear out an affidavit concerning criminal charges against another without the assistance of law enforcement. When a private citizen serves as the affiant for a criminal offense at the summary court level, a courtesy summons should be issued, in lieu of an arrest warrant, pursuant to S.C. Code Section 22-5-115. (See Memorandum in Benchbook, dated July 7, 2008). The courtesy summons is criminal process and must be served on the defendant personally by law enforcement.

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