THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP 09 2013

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000978
Case No. 2012-CP-32-0342

Kay F. Paschal Respondent

v.

Leon Lott, the Duly Elected Sheriff of
Richland County, South Carolina Petitioner

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
John C. Bradley, Jr., SC Bar #7869
Stanley L. Myers, SC Bar #71110
MOORE TAYLOR LAW FIRM, PA
1700 Sunset Boulevard
West Columbia, SC 29169
803-796-9160
803-791-8410 (Fax)
jake@mttlaw.com
john@mttlaw.com
stanley@mttlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
KAY F. PASCHAL

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

A bond modification hearing was held on November 17, 2011, before the Honorable Knox McMahon, Presiding Judge of Lexington County. (R. 569 – 571; 974). To get to the hearing, Kay had to walk through the Courthouse in a prison jumpsuit. She suffered the humiliation of seeing faces she had worked with during her long years as a practicing attorney in Lexington County. The jury heard testimony that neither Lt. Jackson nor any of the Wallace children were present at the bond modification hearing. Judge McMahon's Order granting Kay's motion to modify her bond expressed concerns about the fact that Kay had been arrested in Lexington County on arrest warrants signed by a Richland County Deputy "apparently functioning in Lexington County." His Order raised questions as to the legality of the warrants. (R. 570). Judge McMahon ordered Kay's release on a \$1,000.00 personal recognizance bond on each count. (R. 570; 974).

The charges brought against Kay by Lt. Jackson were ultimately dismissed for lack of probable cause in January of 2012. (R. 175; 571; 576). Based on the lack of evidence and the lack of jurisdiction, the Honorable Gary Morgan, Magistrate for Lexington County, dismissed the criminal warrants in Lexington County. (R. 115; 381; 383).

Sadly, the dismissal of the Lexington County charges for lack of probable cause did not bring this matter to an end. In December 2013, after Kay commenced this action, two additional warrants for “forgery, no dollar amount” were sworn out by the Richland County Sheriff’s Department. (R. 176 – 177; 579 – 581; 1016-1017). Howard Hughes, an employee of the Sherriff’s Department, prepared these affidavits “upon information and belief.” (R. 1016-1017). There are no factual averments in the compliant, nor is there any indication that Mr. Howard Hughes had any firsthand knowledge of any of the claimed allegations against Kay. Kay has never been given any information as to what these charges are or what they involve. Her efforts to get a preliminary hearing as to these charges have been unsuccessful. (R. 581). These cases have languished for over two years.

As a result of the arrest warrants sworn out by Lt. Jackson, Kay had to report her arrest to the South Carolina Supreme Court. Her license to practice law was suspended and has remained suspended since that date. (R. 475; 479; 987). The jury heard evidence of the damages suffered by Kay as a result of her arrest including embarrassment, humiliation, and loss of income. (R. 1).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In ruling on motions for a directed verdict or JNOV, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions. *Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Reg.*, 336 S.C. 373, 386, 520 S.E.2d 142, 148 (1999). “In deciding whether to grant or deny a directed verdict motion, the trial court is concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence.” *Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole*, 351 S.C. 1, 15, 567 S.E.2d 881, 888 (Ct.App.2002) (quoting *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 714, 541 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2001)). “When considering directed verdict and JNOV motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” *Id.* The Appellate Court will reverse the trial court's ruling on a directed verdict or JNOV motion only where there is no evidence to support the ruling or where the ruling is controlled by an error of law. *Clark v. S.C. Dep't of Public Safety*, 362 S.C. 377, 382–83, 608 S.E.2d 573, 576 (2005); *Hinkle v. Nat'l Cas. Ins. Co.*, 354 S.C. 92, 96, 579 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2003).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED SOUTH CAROLINA CODE SECTION 22-5-110 TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

As he has done throughout this Appeal, Petitioner Lott first takes issue with the Trial Court's use of South Carolina Code Section 22-5-110 to evaluate the actions of Lt. Jackson with respect to her appearance before the Lexington Magistrate, Judge Whittle, and the arrest warrants that she obtained in Lexington County. Petitioner Lott again asserts that the Trial Court's interpretation, application and use of this statute at trial resulted in denial of Petitioner Lott's directed verdict motions, as well as his post-trial JNOV Motions. Petitioner Lott finally asserts that this resulted in the jury returning an "incorrect, unjust and unfair trial." Petitioner further asserts that this argument was ignored and overlooked by the Court of Appeals in its opinion and denial of his efforts to obtain a rehearing. These assertions lacks merit.

Although this Statute came up on multiple occasions during the Trial, it was not, contrary to the arguments of Petitioner Lott, "the centerpiece or focus of her (Respondent's) case." (Petitioner's Brief, Page 15). Rather, reference to this statute was only one instance or example of Lt. Jackson's improper conduct and activities in Lexington County and interaction with the Lexington County Magistrate that were presented to the jury. Further, as the Court of Appeals determined, the Court's use of 22-5-110 by the Trial Court was proper and did not constitute an error of law. As correctly recognized by the Trial Court, the Appellant/Respondent's conduct with respect to this statute was only one example of the "...overzealous, ill-willed, and improper prosecution...conducted by the Defendant (Appellant/Respondent) with respect to the Lexington County charges." (R. 6).

In evaluating and ultimately denying the Respondent's Post-Trial Motions, Judge Keesley recognized that "...whether the court applied the law properly...has been the cause of some angst in evaluating the post-trial motions." (R. 7). Judge Keesley recognized that, "some of this relates to the proper interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. 22-5-110 and its applicability to the actions of the Defendant's Deputy." (R. 7). The Court rejected Petitioner Lott's argument that this statute had no applicability to the actions of Lt. Jackson, concluding:

Viewing the totality of the circumstances, the court finds that sufficient evidence was presented to enable the jury to determine that the conduct of the Defendant (Respondent) in pursuing and obtaining the arrest warrant that is the subject of this action was contrary to the procedure provided in S.C. Code Ann 22-5-110, that the Defendant (Respondent) was put on notice by the 11th Circuit Solicitor's office of the applicability of that statute, that there was mention to the Richland County Lieutenant about Magistrates having to issue a courtesy summons in some situations, that the Richland County failed to alert the Magistrate about the information she obtained related to a courtesy summons, and that she withheld from the Magistrate the fact that the Lexington County Sheriff's Office investigation did not conclude that charges were warranted.

The Trial Court's analysis and conclusions were correct and supported by the evidence presented at Trial. The jury heard ample evidence of Lt. Jackson's participation in the preparation and procurement of two arrest warrants in Lexington County for Kay's arrest. (R. 104 – 105). These were done in the course and scope of her employment by the Richland County Sheriff's Department. These charges had previously been investigated in Lexington County by Lexington County authorities. (R. 203). Steve Baumgartner, an 18 year employee of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, had thoroughly investigated the matter involving the use of the POA to purchase the handicap accessible van and determined that there was no probable cause to charge Kay with any wrongdoing or to arrest her. (R. 206 – 207; 218– 221; 360 – 361; 365; 979).

The two warrants were sworn to by Lt. Jackson. (R. 104; 978-979). They were issued solely on information supplied to the issuing Judge (Judge Whittle) by Lt. Jackson. (R. 105). The jury heard evidence that Lt. Jackson did not know the meaning of foundational words that she used in the affidavit to obtain the arrest warrant. (R. 1). These warrants resulted in Kay turning herself in and being arrested. There was no proof Kay did anything wrong and the jury heard testimony that Lt. Jackson withheld information from the Lexington County Magistrate when she got the warrant. (R. 1). She did not tell the Lexington County Magistrate that Lexington County had already investigated these charges and found no probable cause. (R. 1). In securing the warrants, Lt. Jackson did tell the Magistrate that she had spoken with Dayton Riddle, the assistant solicitor in Lexington County who had raised concerns about Lt. Jackson swearing out a warrant in Lexington County. (R. 1; 267 – 268; 831 - 832). As correctly recognized by Judge Keesley in his Order, Solicitor Riddle pointed out the statute and its possible application to Lt. Jackson obtaining warrants to arrest Kay. However, at no time did Lt. Jackson convey these concerns to the Magistrate in her haste to obtain arrest warrants against Kay. (R. 267).

The Petitioner argues that the Trial Court's alleged misinterpretation and misapplication of this code section resulted in the denial of a directed verdict and JNOV motions and also caused Sheriff Lott to receive an unfair trial. This argument is not supported by the facts that were presented to the jury. As set forth by Judge Keesley on numerous occasions during Trial and in his Order, the jury heard ample evidence to support Respondent/Appellant's causes of action. (R. 1). As determined by the Court of Appeals in its decision, and set forth above, there was ample evidence to submit this issue to the jury. The Court's handling of this statute at trial did not amount to an abuse of discretion.

There is simply nothing to support the Appellant/Respondent's assertions that the Trial Court's handling of this statute resulted in either the denial of Petitioner Lott's directed verdict or JNOV motions or resulted in an unfair trial.

The Trial Court properly interpreted South Carolina Code Section 22-5-110 and correctly submitted the issue of Petitioner's compliance with South Carolina Code Section 22-5-110 to the jury. The Court of Appeals in its opinion correctly affirmed the Trial Court's handling of this issue. The decision of the South Carolina Court of Appeals as to this issue is correct and should be affirmed by this Court.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF SHERIFF LOTT'S DIRECTED VERDICT AND POST TRIAL MOTIONS WITH RESPECT TO RESPONDENT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR MALACIOUS PROSECUTION

Petitioner Lott argues that the Trial Court erred in denying his Motions for Directed Verdict/JNOV with respect to Respondent Paschal's cause of action for malicious prosecution. Petitioner again argues that the Respondent failed to establish termination of the underlying proceedings in her favor and that the Lower Court erred in failing to grant his directed verdict or JNOV motions. Petitioner further argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the Trial Court's determination.

To recover in a malicious prosecution action, a plaintiff must prove the following: (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in the plaintiffs favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage. *Broyhill v. Resolution Mgmt. Consultants, Inc.*, 401 S.C. 466, 736 S.E.2d 867, 870-71 (Ct.App.2012). Petitioner Lott asserts that there was ample evidence in this case to support her claim for Malicious Prosecution. (R. 1).

As he has done throughout his Appeal, Petitioner Sheriff Lott focuses his argument by alleging that Respondent Paschal failed to prove two essential elements of her malicious prosecution cause of action, probable cause and termination of the underlying proceedings in her favor. See, *Broyhill v. Resolution Management Consultants, Inc.*, 401 S.C. 466, 736 S.E.2d 867 (Ct. App. 2012).

Contrary to the assertions and arguments of Petitioner Lott, the jury heard ample evidence as to both of these elements and the Trial Court correctly denied Petitioner Lott's directed verdict and post-trial motions with respect to this cause of action.

The jury heard ample evidence from which it could have concluded that facts within the knowledge of Lt. Jackson would have lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was not guilty of a crime. *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 623 S.E.2d. 656 (Ct. App. 2005). The jury heard conflicting testimony as to Lt. Jackson's investigation, or lack thereof prior to obtaining her arrest warrants. The jury heard conflicting testimony regarding Lt. Jackson's contact with Tim Peterson, the employee with Carolina Mobility who handled the sale of the van. The jury heard evidence as to her "version" of sale of the van. The jury also heard testimony and evidence regarding the Lexington County Sheriff's Department's own investigation of the same transaction. The jury heard testimony that these same charges had previously been investigated in Lexington County by Lexington County authorities. (R. 203). Steve Baumgartner, an 18 year employee of the Lexington County Sherriff's Department, had thoroughly investigated the matter involving the use of the POA to purchase the handicap accessible van and determined that there was no probable cause to charge Kay with any wrongdoing or to arrest her. (R. 206; 218 – 221; 360 – 361; 365; 979).

As he did in his post-trial motions, Petitioner Lott relies upon Lt. Jackson's conversations with various law enforcement personnel as justification of her actions with respect to the arrest warrants. However, as brought out by Ms. Paschal's counsel in his cross examination of these witnesses, these contacts were fatally flawed in that Lt. Jackson did not present any of these individuals with a full set of facts prior to eliciting their opinions and were therefore designed to bolster her own flawed prosecution of the case, as opposed to obtaining objective opinions regarding the status of her investigation. (R. 260 – 261). The Trial Court properly considered this argument and rejected it, recognizing, "there is a dispute as to whether there was a full and complete disclosure of all the material facts, and whether Defendant acted and relied upon such advice in good faith before seeking the arrest warrants in Lexington County." (R. 1).

Unlike the *Jackson* case, relied upon by Appellant/Respondent Lott, the facts of this case with respect to probable cause certainly do not yield "but one conclusion" making this issue a question of law and not fact. Whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, but it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields only one conclusion. *Law v. South Carolina Department of Corrections*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d 642 (2006) (citing *Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co.*, 246 S.C. 318, 323, 143 S.E.2d 607, 609 (1965)). This is certainly not an instance where the evidence presented regarding probable cause yields only one conclusion. The Trial Court properly submitted the question of probable cause to the jury and did not err in denying Appellant/Respondent Lott's post-trial motions with respect to this issue.

Petitioner Lott next argues that Kay failed to present evidence from which a jury could have determined that the judicial proceedings (in this case the arrest warrants and

subsequent criminal charges) terminated in her favor. See, *McKenney v. Jack Eckerd Company*, 304 S.C. 21, 402 S.E.2d 887 (1991). However, as recognized by Judge Keesley, there was ample evidence presented for the jury to conclude that the proceedings terminated in Kay's favor. The jury heard ample evidence that the charges brought against Kay by Lt. Jackson were ultimately dismissed for lack of probable cause in January of 2012. (R. 175; 576; 579; 835 - 836). Based on the lack of evidence and the lack of jurisdiction, the Honorable Gary Morgan, Magistrate for Lexington County, dismissed the criminal warrants in Lexington County. (R. 115; 381; 383).

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